RECEIVED

Apr 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, Master In Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2022CP07-02454

Appellate Case No. 2023-000411

Blue Bell Holdings, LLC Appellant,

v.

Gary C. Johnson, Stephen D. Halpern, Holly A. Angel, Holly Ann, LLC, Belmont Properties, LLC,
Shoreline Funding, LLC and Orange Capital, LLC (Nevis)..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Ashley Twombly, Esquire
S.C. Bar #72916
Thomas Blase Iandoli, Esquire
S.C. Bar #105294
Twenge + Twombly Law Firm
311 Carteret Street
Beaufort, SC 29902

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by refusing to convert a TRO into a temporary injunction because Plaintiff did not establish irreparable harm and an inadequate remedy at law where Defendant has engaged in fraudulent transfers to avoid judgment after Plaintiff filed causes of action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Introduction

Appellant Blue Bell Holdings, LLC (“BBH,” “Appellant,” or “Plaintiff”) filed an initial complaint against Respondent Gary C. Johnson (“Johnson,” “Respondent,” or “Defendant”) on October 26, 2021, regarding the LLCs the two parties owned, asserting claims, *inter alia*, of breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, and breach of contract. BBH sought \$5,166,672.11 dollars in actual damages alone (hereinafter “Initial Suit” or “Initial Complaint”). The Initial Suit was given civil action number 2021-CP-07-01953.

After the Initial Suit was filed, BBH discovered that Johnson was using a variety of illegal creditor protection scams to render himself judgment-proof. For example, Johnson used a company named “Lawyers Limited,” which is not a law firm and does not provide legal advice, to facilitate fraudulent transfers related to millions of dollars of his individual real estate holdings. (R. pp. 413-423). (“[O]ur services are limited in scope as we have attorneys on staff but are not a law firm. Our company does not offer legal, tax or other professional services. For those services, seek the appropriate attorney or accountant.”) Nonetheless, Lawyers Limited touts on its website that its “key focus” is “in the area of the protection of financial assets and valuables from creditors, divorces, lawsuits and judgements” and that strategies “to protect real estate from lawsuits include . . . equity stripping liens to make the confiscation of real estate assets less likely.” (R. pp. 414, 417). The Lawyers Limited website explains that one of the “main strategies” it uses to protect customers like Johnson from lawsuits is an “equity stripping transaction.” (R. p. 417).

Lawyers Limited explains how this plan is designed to work best: “[S]et up a separate LLC and have it mortgage the equity in your investment property. This is a publicly recorded equity line of credit type of mortgage or deed of trust recorded in the county recorder’s office against each property. Doing this strips the equity out of your properties.” (R. p. 419) Accordingly, to Lawyer’s Limited, “equity stripping strategies” are used to “make the property less attractive to creditors” and acts “as a powerful deterrent to creditors.” (R. p. 419) “Then, when ‘bad things’ happen and you are in legal hot water,” Lawyer’s Limited involves “offshore” entities “beyond the reach of local courts.” (R. p. 419) Johnson also engaged in numerous other illegal creditor protection scams amounting to fraudulent transactions as more fully outlined below.

This malfeasance caused BBH to quickly file a second action seeking to set aside the scam transactions alleging, *inter alia*, that they violated the Statute of Elizabeth. This suit was given civil action number 2022-CP-07-02454 (hereinafter “Second Suit” or “Second Complaint”). BBH also sought and obtained an *ex parte* TRO in the Second Suit to prevent Johnson from further transferring and disposing of his assets until the Court could consider a temporary injunction. Significantly, in granting the TRO, the trial court found that Plaintiff made a *prima facie* showing that (a) “after learning of a lawsuit against him, Johnson began to transfer and or encumber his assets to make it practically impossible for Plaintiff to use them in the future to satisfy a judgment;” that (b) “Johnson has engaged in a series of fraudulent conveyances prohibited under South Carolina law;” that (c) Johnson used offshore/foreign LLCs as part of the scam which would make future actions to set aside additional fraudulent transfers potentially “cost prohibitive;” that (d) “Plaintiff was likely to succeed on the merits of its underlying fraudulent transfer claims;” that (e) “[t]he brazen nature of these actions sufficiently establishes that if Johnson were given notice of Plaintiff’s attempt to obtain the within temporarily relief, Johnson might engage in additional behavior in between the time of learning of Plaintiff’s effort and the time a noticed hearing could

take place;” and that (f) “if Plaintiff is correct, this would clearly cause irreparable injury, loss, or damage to Plaintiff.” (R. pp. 1-5)

However, the trial court subsequently declined to convert the TRO into a temporary injunction, lifted the TRO, provided no explanation for its decision, and essentially turned Johnson loose to engage in more fraudulent transactions.¹ Because lifting the TRO would have allowed Johnson to continue to transfer and obscure his assets, Appellant quickly filed a Notice of Appeal to invoke the protections of the automatic stay, staying the relief ordered in lifting the TRO. Rule 241(a), SCACR (the filing of a Notice of Appeal will “automatically stay matters decided in the order, judgment, decree or decision on appeal, and to automatically stay the relief ordered in the appealed order.”).

II. Initial Complaint

On October 26, 2021, BBH filed its Initial Complaint against Johnson for his malfeasance against two LLCs the parties own as 50/50 owners: 30 Haul Away, LLC and Island Funding, LLC. (R. pp. 13-26) Additionally, BBH’s predecessor and Johnson owned a third LLC, which has since dissolved: 6 Shelly Court, LLC. (*Id.*) All three LLCs were formed to acquire distressed real properties and manage them for future sale at a profit. (R. pp. 14-15, ¶¶ 5-6.) In the Initial Complaint, BBH alleges that Johnson provided the day-to-day management of BBH, including managing the LLCs bank accounts, selecting properties to purchase and to sell, managing the properties, working with the LLCs’ accountant, and distributing profits to the two members. (R. pp. 15-16, ¶ 11.)

¹ For example, while not part of the record below, BBH now knows that Johnson transferred over \$1,700,000 to other LLCs for no consideration and has used another LLC, called Boardwalk Properties, LLC, to mortgage properties, which were also unsupported by consideration.

BBH alleges that Johnson was breaching his fiduciary duties to BBH by stealing money from the LLCs and by also competing with and misappropriating business opportunities to another one of Johnson's companies called Shoreline Funding, LLC, and by usurping the corporate opportunities for himself and converting LLC money to himself. (R. pp. 16-17, ¶ 13.) Additionally, BBH alleges that Johnson improperly characterized advances to the three LLCs to benefit himself at the expense of BBH. (R. pp. 17-22, ¶¶ 14-18.) Specifically, BBH alleges that Johnson would characterize BBH's cash advances to the LLCs as "capital contributions" instead of loans as required by the operating agreements of the LLCs. (R. p. 18) Thus, the loans that BBH was contributing to the LLCs were not accruing interest, which damaged BBH and benefited Johnson. Moreover, BBH alleges that Johnson surreptitiously violated the operating agreement, which requires cash distributions to be approved by both members and to be made equally to both members, by issuing himself substantially larger distributions than he did to BBH. (R. pp. 17-19, 21)

The damage caused by Johnson is significant. BBH alleges that Johnson owes \$2,273,901.79 with respect to 30 Haul Away, LLC; \$2,582,770.32 with respect to Island Funding, LLC; and \$310,000 with respect to 6 Shelley Court, LLC, for a total in actual damages of \$5,166,672.11. (R. pp. 18, 21.) After discovering this initial conduct, BBH filed its Initial Complaint asserting the following causes of action: (1) Appointment of Receiver and Issuance of Injunction and TRO, (2) Breach of Fiduciary Duties, (3) Conversion, (4) Breach of Contract/Breach of Obligation of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, and (5) Judicial Dissociation/Expulsion of Johnson. Importantly, in addition to the actual damages of over \$5 million, BBH seeks attorney's fees and punitive damages for Johnson's wanton, willful, and intentionally harmful conduct. If BBH's allegations are true, this case is an excellent candidate

for a punitive damages award. Significantly, BBH did not move to enjoin Johnson from transferring his assets in this action to preserve assets for a potential money damages judgment.

III. Consent Order Regarding LLCs

The Initial Complaint seeks the appointment of a receiver for the jointly owned LLCs, and BBH moved for one to ensure Johnson could not transfer additional jointly owned LLC assets to himself. In lieu of having a receiver appointed for the jointly owned LLCs, Johnson voluntarily agreed to enter into a consent order that restrained and prohibited him from using any account or other LLC assets for any reason other than for the purpose of paying a legitimate and proper expense of the LLCs, and then, only after receiving the agreement from BBH that said expense was in fact legitimate and proper.² (R. pp. 6-8)

IV. Second Complaint

After BBH realized that Johnson was orchestrating an illegal creditor protection scam for the purpose of protecting assets from BB in the Initial Suit,” BBH filed the Second Complaint on December 22, 2022. The Second Complaint details Johnson’s scheme. With the help of his partner Stephen Halpern (“Halpern”); Halpern’s LLC, Belmont Properties, LLC (“Belmont”); live-in girlfriend Holly Angel (“Angel”); Angel’s LLC, Holly Ann, LLC; Shoreline Funding, LLC (“Shoreline”); and Orange Capital, LLC (Nevis) (“Orange Capital”); Johnson orchestrated a creditor protection scam to voluntarily divest himself of all assets to render himself judgment proof in light of the roughly \$5 million dollar liability that he was facing in the Initial Complaint. More specifically, by the time the Second Complaint was filed, Johnson and his co-conspirators engaged in at least seven fraudulent transfers and/or equity stripping transactions. Importantly, Johnson began transferring his assets immediately after BBH filed its Initial Complaint. As described by

² While not before this Court, BBH alleges that Johnson has violated the trial court’s order by using LLC bank accounts without BBH’s agreement.

Lawyers Limited, Johnson was now in “legal hot water” and began to follow the Lawyers Limited plan to “make [his] property less attractive to creditors” and serve “as a powerful deterrent to creditors.” (R. pp. 413-421)

First, and not in chronological order, Johnson engaged in a transaction involving eight parcels of real estate he owned called the “Gary Johnson Land Portfolio.” (R. pp. 46-48, ¶¶ 58-66.) Johnson formed a fraudulent entity in the Caribbean island of Nevis and called it Orange Capital, LLC (Nevis). (R. p. 47, ¶ 63.) On August 16, 2022, Johnson recorded mortgages on each parcel identified in the Gary Johnson Land Portfolio in favor of Orange Capital, purportedly in exchange for a \$1 million line of credit. (R. p. 46, ¶ 60.) However, there is no evidence to support the assertion that Orange Capital extended any credit to Johnson. Moreover, Counsel for Johnson conceded before the trial court that no consideration was provided by Orange Capital, LLC in exchange for the mortgages it received. (R. p. 459, ln 1-9.) And, as such, there was *no consideration* for the transfers. Significantly, Johnson, a licensed real estate broker with more than thirty years of experience, prepared and recorded the mortgages on behalf of Orange Capital and had the mortgage returned directly to himself, in a clear violation of South Carolina law.³ (R. p. 47, ¶ 64.) This transaction is a fraudulent transfer.

The **second** transaction occurred in November of 2021, one month after the filing of the Complaint. In November 2021, Johnson entered a contract to buy a condo at 17 Harborside Lane, Hilton Head, South Carolina for \$501,000. (R. p. 43, ¶ 34.) He purchased the condo with his individual funds. (R. p. 43, ¶ 35.) Then, he asked an attorney to assign the contract to “Holly Ann, LLC,” the LLC of his live-in girlfriend, Ms. Angel, and asked the attorney to create a “ready to

³ *State v. Buyers Service Co., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 426, 433-34, 357 S.E.2d 15, 19 (1987) (providing laypersons handling mortgage closings and recording instruments is the unauthorized practice of law).

record” mortgage from Holly Ann, LLC for \$600,000. Johnson proceeded with the closing and had the condo titled in Holly Ann, LLC’s name. (R. p. 44, ¶¶ 39-40) This transfer was not supported by *any* consideration, took place shortly after the first complaint was filed, was a departure from Johnson’s usual method of business, and was fraudulent under South Carolina law. (*Id.* ¶ 40-41.)

To add insult to injury, Johnson took additional illegal steps to distance himself from the transfer and his connection to Holly Ann, LLC, as it is well known that Ms. Angel is Johnson’s live-in girlfriend and Holly Ann, LLC is Ms. Angel’s LLC. (*Id.* ¶ 42.) So, on the day of closing and before the deed was recorded, Johnson and Ms. Angel fraudulently changed the registered agent for Holly Ann, LLC from Ms. Angel to “Emily Higgins.” (*Id.* ¶ 43.) Emily Higgins is a relative of Ms. Angel—and she was required to sign the South Carolina Secretary of State’s form authorizing the change and agreeing to serve as the registered agent. However, Ms. Angel admitted that she forged Higgins’s name on the form and filed it with the Secretary of State. (*Id.* ¶¶ 44-45.) Further, when Ms. Angel forged Ms. Higgins’s name, Angel falsely stated that Ms. Higgins is a “member” of Holly Ann, LLC, when Ms. Angel is the sole member. (R. p. 45, ¶ 46.) Then, in an effort to distance himself further from the LLC in Hilton Head, Johnson and Angel listed a Traveler’s Rest address for the registered agent’s office for Holly Ann, LLC. (*Id.* ¶ 46-47.) However, Ms. Higgins, the purported new registered agent, does not live in Traveler’s Rest. The entire filing with the Secretary of State’s office is false and fraudulent.

The **third** transaction involved a property at 197 Buck Island Road in Bluffton, South Carolina. (R. pp.45-46, ¶¶ 50-57.) The property was jointly owned by Johnson and his partner Halpern as tenants in common. BBH alleges that Halpern knew his partner was fearful of the Complaint and that BBH would obtain a multi-million-dollar judgment against him, so Johnson conspired with him to defraud BBH. (R. p. 45, ¶¶ 51-52.) On January 28, 2022, Johnson and

Halpern “sold” the Buck Island property to Belmont Properties, LLC, which is solely owned by co-conspirator Halpern, *for no consideration*. (R. p. 46, ¶¶ 53-54.) Like the previous transaction, no consideration (or nominal consideration) was given for the transfer. It was a fraudulent conveyance to hide assets.

The **fourth** transaction involves two properties owned by Johnson located on Wild Horse Road in Hilton Head. (R. pp. 48-49, ¶¶ 67-72.) He again used his fraudulent company, Orange Capital, to “give” a line of credit to Johnson in exchange for a mortgage of \$650,000 to Orange Capital. (R. p. 48, ¶ 68.) This mortgage was placed on the Wild Horse Road property, and again, Johnson prepared and filed the mortgage on behalf of Orange Capital and had the Register of Deeds return it to him, personally, in violation of *State v. Buyers*. (R. pp. 48-49, ¶¶ 68-72.) However, there is no evidence to support the assertion that Orange Capital extended credit to Johnson, and as such, there was *no consideration* for the transfers. Yet, another fraudulent transaction consummated to insulate Johnson from liability.

The **fifth** transaction involves putting the condo Johnson purchased in Holly Ann, LLC’s name with the fraudulent company of Orange Capital. (R. 49-50, ¶¶ 73-80.) On August 16, 2022, Holly Ann, LLC, acting through Johnson, purportedly gave a mortgage of \$650,000 to Orange Capital on the condo, and Johnson recorded it. (R. pp. 49, 50, ¶¶ 74, 78.) The mortgage was fraudulently executed by Johnson as the “managing member” of Holly Ann, LLC. (R. p. 49, ¶¶ 75-76.) This is true even though (1) Johnson is not the “managing member,” (2) has no interest in or authority to sign for Holly Ann, LLC, and (3) *no entity has ever loaned \$650,000 to Holly Ann, LLC*. (*Id.* ¶ 76.) Accordingly, there was *no consideration* for this transfer. This fifth fraudulent transfer is replete with fraud from stem to stern.

The **sixth** transaction involves a parcel at 109 Sandcastle Court, Hilton Head, which Johnson owned through Shoreline Funding, LLC, an entity owned 100% by Johnson. (R. pp. 50-

51, ¶¶ 81-88.) On August 16, 2022, Shoreline Funding, LLC purported to give Orange Capital a mortgage of \$650,000, and Johnson recorded it, identifying himself as the “managing member” of Shoreline. (R. p. 50, ¶ 83-84). Again, there is no evidence to support the assertion that Orange Capital extended credit to Johnson related to this transaction, and as such, there was *no consideration* for the transfer. This is yet another fraudulent transfer within one year of the filing of the Complaint.

The **seventh** transaction involves the property at 197 Buck Island Road in Bluffton, South Carolina. (R. pp. 51-52, ¶¶ 89-98.) This property was owned by Johnson and Halpern. (R. p. 51, ¶ 89.) On August 16, 2022, Belmont Properties, LLC (the new owner of 197 Buck Island) purportedly gave a mortgage of \$300,000 to Orange Capital. (*Id.* ¶ 90.) Halpern executed the mortgage as “managing member” of Belmont and stated the mortgage would encumber 197 Buck Island. (*Id.* ¶ 91.) Like the others, Johnson prepared and filed the mortgage on behalf of Orange Capital and had it returned directly to him. (R. p. 52, ¶ 93.) However, there is no evidence to support the assertion that Orange Capital extended credit to Johnson, and as such, there was *no consideration* for the transfers. This is another fraudulent transfer.

These paragraphs detail the seven fraudulent transfers that BBH had discovered by the time it filed the Second Complaint. Astonishingly, Johnson admits these voluntarily and consideration-less transfers were made to “**protect my interests**” and “**preserve my ability to raise capital**” and were made due to Johnson’s concern over his ability “to get a loan/mortgage on any of my properties from traditional financing sources **due to the fact that this lawsuit is pending.**” (R. p. 480, ¶¶ 60-61) (emphasis added) Johnson seeks to protect his interest and his ability to use his assets for his own benefit over BBH’s right to use them to satisfy a judgment in its lawsuit.

Due to the scheme described above undertaken immediately after Johnson learned of the Initial Suit, BBH fears that there are more based on the systematic transfers of properties conducted

by Johnson with the assistance of the others described above to avoid liability from BBH's lawsuit. Once BBH learned of and was able to understand how the scam worked related to these fraudulent conveyances, it filed the Second Complaint asserting claims of (1) TRO, Injunction, and Appointment of Receiver, (2) Statute of Elizabeth, (3) Civil Conspiracy, (4) Constructive Trust, (5) Resulting Trust, (6) Accounting. BBH's manager, David A. Brosman, M.D. verified the Second Complaint.

V. BBH moves for an *Ex Parte* TRO

In light of Johnson's systematic divestiture of his properties in an obvious attempt to thwart BBH's Initial Complaint, BBH filed a Motion for an *ex parte* TRO as to Johnson on December 22, 2022, the same day it filed the Second Complaint. (R. pp. 240-247) BBH first argued, "Plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm and/or loss in the absence of the issuance of an injunction as Johnson will likely take more actions to transfer and encumber his assets through foreign companies." (r. p. 246) Second, BBH contended, "Plaintiff will likely succeed on the merits of this case at trial . . . [because] Johnson's actions, coupled with the sworn testimony of his live-in girlfriend, lead to the inescapable conclusion that Johnson is attempting to purposefully manipulate the system and transfer and encumber all of [these] valuable assets." (*Id.*) Third, BBH asserted, "Plaintiff has no other adequate remedy at law that can rectify the situation . . . [because] Plaintiff will be left with no assets to collect against, and Johnson will have succeeded in not only stealing millions of dollars from Plaintiff, but also in transferring and encumbering his assets to keep them out of reach of Plaintiff." (*Id.*)

On the same day, December 22, the trial court granted BBH's motion for an *ex parte* TRO. The court found,

Plaintiff has sufficiently established a prima facie showing that Johnson has engaged in a series of fraudulent conveyances prohibited under South Carolina law. Specifically, Plaintiff has made a prima facie showing that after learning of a

lawsuit against him, Johnson began to transfer and or encumber his assets, or the assets of LLCs in which he has an ownership interest, to make it practically impossible for Plaintiff to use in the future to satisfy a judgment. The brazen nature of these actions sufficiently establishes that if Johnson were given notice of Plaintiff's attempt to obtain the within temporarily relief, Johnson might engage in additional behavior in between the time of learning of Plaintiff's effort and the time a noticed hearing could take place. The Court agrees that if Plaintiff is correct, this would clearly cause irreparable injury, loss, or damage to Plaintiff.

(R. pp. 1-5). The trial court set a hearing to convert the TRO into a temporary injunction for December 29, 2022.

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