RECEIVED

Apr 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2022-CP-07-02454
Appellate Case No.: 2023-000411

Blue Bell Holdings, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Gary C. Johnson, Stephen D. Halpern, Holly A. Angel, Holly Ann, LLC, Belmont Properties, LLC, Shoreline Funding, LLC, and Orange Capital, LLC (Nevis) Respondents.

RESPONDENT GARY C. JOHNSON'S FINAL BRIEF

Elizabeth J. Palmer (SC Bar #73680)
Saxton & Stump, LLC
151 Meeting St., Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 414-5080
ep@saxtonstump.com

Attorneys for Respondent Gary C. Johnson

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

³ While the First Lawsuit was filed in October 2021, only two depositions (that of Rebecca Hale, Esquire, Respondent's closing attorney, and Holly Angel, Respondent's fiancé) have been taken. Essentially, Appellant has put the First Lawsuit on hold while it has focused solely on pursuing an injunction to freeze Respondent's assets.

⁴ The Complaint in the First Lawsuit was attached as an exhibit to the Verified Complaint in this action.

⁵ While the \$2.5mm distributed to Appellant in May-August 2021 would have presumably

Respondent breached his duty of loyalty by engaging in competing real estate investment activities, damaging Appellant in the amount of \$743,347. (R. pp. 16-17, ¶ 13) However, Appellant bases this calculation solely on purchase and sales prices, failing to take into account carrying and closing costs. The true figure is closer to \$167,000, and there is certainly no guarantee that a jury would determine Respondent breached any duty of loyalty. (R. p. 477, ¶¶ 38-39)

Finally, even if Appellant were to obtain a judgment against Respondent, and even if Respondent refused to immediately satisfy it, forcing Appellant to utilize supplemental proceedings, difficulty in collecting a judgment is not “irreparable harm.”

Appellant’s claim that it will be irreparably harmed in the absence of an injunction because it will be unable to have the conveyances it contends are fraudulent set aside is even less persuasive. Appellant speculates that, absent an injunction, Respondent will engage in additional fraudulent conveyances and as such, even if Appellant were to obtain an order setting aside the initial conveyances it alleges are fraudulent, that order would be meaningless. First, in connection with its Verified Complaint, Appellant filed Lis Pendens on each of the properties it contends was fraudulently conveyed and has therefore already effectively prohibited any future conveyances. Second, subsequent transfers would be equally subject to being set aside pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth. Again, Appellant is engaging in pure speculation and has not established that any harm, let alone irreparable harm, is likely.

included profits, Appellant’s 2021 K-1s (R. pp. 527-530) reflect that at the end of 2021, the total value of its IF and 30HA capital accounts, which include all funds contributed by Appellant (the same funds it now claims were advances/loans), was \$1,351,262, a far cry from the \$3mm claimed to be owed.

II. The lower court correctly determined that Appellant has an adequate remedy at law.

An injunction is an equitable remedy; as such, it is available only where no remedy at law exists or where the legal remedy would fail to make the party whole. MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assocs., 356 S.C. 363, 369–70, 588 S.E.2d 635, 639 (Ct. App. 2003). The party seeking an injunction must prove it has no adequate remedy at law. Strategic Res. Co. v. Bcs Life Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006).

The general rule is that an injunction should be granted only where some irreparable injury is threatened for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Whether a wrong is irreparable in the sense that equity may intervene, and whether there is an adequate remedy at law for a wrong, are questions that are not decided by narrow and artificial rules.

Id. (quoting Cartee v. Lesley, 286 S.C. 249, 256, 333 S.E.2d 341, 345 (Ct. App. 1985) (citations omitted) (holding that a “complaint fails to state a cause of action for injunctive relief unless facts are alleged which show that the plaintiff has no adequate and complete remedy at law”)).

The fact of the matter is that Appellant, in placing the proverbial cart before the horse by filing this action in the first place, has shown that there are legal remedies available for the potential, speculative future damages it believes it may one day sustain. Namely, a lawsuit to set aside fraudulent conveyances and to pursue claims of civil conspiracy against those Appellant believes conspired to make more difficult the collection of a judgment it may someday be awarded. Moreover, to the extent that a judgment is someday rendered against, and not satisfied by, Respondent, Appellant would have a number of statutory remedies, including execution (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10, et seq.), supplemental proceedings (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-310, et seq.), and obtaining a charging order against Respondent’s distributional interests in the LLCs (S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-504).

The lower court correctly determined that Appellant absolutely has adequate remedies at law. See Scratch Golf Co., 361 S.C. at 122, 603 S.E.2d at 908 (a plaintiff's argument that it will have difficulty collecting a potential future judgment because the defendant may "take its assets and run" does not warrant an injunction where statutory remedies are available).

III. Appellant cannot establish likelihood of success on the merits.

As an additional sustaining ground, Appellant cannot establish likelihood of success on the merits. See Scratch Golf Co., 361 S.C. at 121, 603 S.E.2d at 908 (an applicant must establish that it has a likelihood of success on the merits for an injunction to issue). In addition to the claim for injunctive relief, Appellant asserts a Statute of Elizabeth/fraudulent conveyance claim and a claim for civil conspiracy. The allegations Appellant relies on to support these claims range no further than pure speculation that Respondent conspired with the other defendants to engage in a series of fraudulent conveyances with the intent of avoiding a potential future indebtedness should the First Lawsuit result in a judgment against Respondent and in favor of Appellant.

Appellant cannot show a likelihood of success on the civil conspiracy claim as stated in the Verified Complaint because it failed to plead damages.⁶ A plaintiff asserting a civil conspiracy claim must establish: (1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons; (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means; (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement; and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff. Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 574, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780 (2021).

⁶ In fact, Appellant's civil conspiracy claim, as pled in its initial Verified Complaint, which was the active complaint at the time the lower court entered its March 8, 2023, Order denying the preliminary injunction, was dismissed by order filed on May 17, 2023. That order, which found that "Plaintiff has failed to alleged that it has suffered any recoverable damages", granted Appellant leave to file an Amended Verified Complaint, which it did on May 31, 2023. In the Amended Verified Complaint, Appellant alleges that it has been damaged by way of incurring attorneys' fees and costs in bringing this action, a dubious claim for damages at best.

In connection with its civil conspiracy cause of action, Appellant pleads that “Johnson engaged in a scheme to hide, divert and encumber his assets in order to delay, hinder, or defraud Plaintiff’s collection efforts *in the event a judgment was entered against him.*” (R. p. 56, ¶ 120) (emphasis added). Appellant will only sustain damages from this alleged conspiracy *if* a judgment is entered against Respondent in the First Lawsuit and *if* Appellant is unable to collect on that judgment. As such, Appellant cannot presently show that it is likely to succeed on this claim because it has not been damaged, and may in fact never be damaged, by the allegedly conspiratorial acts. It cannot be assumed that a judgment will be rendered against Respondent in the First Lawsuit, or that Respondent would be unable to satisfy such a judgment.

Appellant also cannot show it is likely to succeed on its fraudulent conveyance claim. Under the Statute of Elizabeth, fraudulent conveyances may be set aside for existing creditors as well as for subsequent creditors. Mathis v. Burton, 460 S.E.2d 406, 408 (Ct. App. 1995). Appellant contends that it is an existing creditor, meaning its debt arose prior to the time of the allegedly fraudulent conveyances. App. Brief, p. 27. For an existing creditor, fraudulent conveyances may be set aside in two instances:

First, where the challenged transfer was made for a valuable consideration, it will be set aside if the plaintiff establishes that (1) the transfer was made by the grantor with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors; (2) the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer; and (3) the grantor's intent is imputable to the grantee. Second, where the transfer was not made on a valuable consideration, no actual intent to hinder or delay creditors must be proven. Instead, as a matter of equity, the transfer will be set aside if the plaintiff shows that (1) the grantor was indebted to him at the time of the transfer; (2) the conveyance was voluntary; and (3) the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay the indebtedness to the plaintiff in full—not merely at the time of the transfer, but in the final analysis when the creditor seeks to collect his debt.

Id.; see also Oskin v. Johnson, 400 S.C. 390, 397, 735 S.E.2d 459, 463 (2012) (“In interpreting this statute, this Court has held conveyances shall be set aside under two conditions: First, where

there was valuable consideration and the transfer is made by the grantor with the actual intent to defraud; and, second, where a transfer is made without actual intent to defraud but without valuable consideration”). Appellant further contends that there was no consideration for the conveyances at issues. App. Brief, p. 27. As such, to succeed on its fraudulent conveyance claim, it must prove by clear and convincing evidence (see Judy v. Judy, 403 S.C. 203, 207, 742 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2013)) that: (1) Respondent was indebted to it at the time of the transfer; (2) the conveyance was voluntary; and (3) Respondent failed to retain sufficient property to pay the indebtedness to Appellant in full-*not merely at the time of the transfer, but in the final analysis when the creditor seeks to collect his debt*. It is that last element that renders it impossible to find that Appellant is likely to succeed on the merits of its fraudulent conveyance claim at this juncture because there is no way to determine, let alone by clear and convincing evidence, Respondent’s retention of property at some future date. This “final analysis” cannot be conducted until and unless a judgment is rendered against Respondent and Respondent refuses to satisfy that judgment. To the extent Appellant argues that the analysis can be conducted at this juncture, it has not, and cannot, establish that Respondent has insufficient assets to pay any indebtedness for the reasons set forth hereinabove.

As an additional sustaining ground, Appellant cannot show likelihood of success on the merits of its claims in this lawsuit and the lower court’s order should be affirmed.

IV. Appellant’s argument that the lower court’s order was based on an error of law is misplaced and was not preserved for appellate review.

In its brief, Appellant argues that the lower court’s decision was based on an error of law. Specifically, that the lower court focused on the legal relief sought in the First Lawsuit and ignored the equitable claims sought in this action, the Second Lawsuit. As an initial matter, this argument was not raised to the lower court and therefore was not preserved for review. In order to preserve

an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been: 1) raised to and ruled upon by the lower court; 2) raised by the appellate; 3) raised by the appellant; and 4) raised to the lower court with sufficient specificity. S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007).

Regardless, the lower court did not err. Appellant's argument is that this action seeks only equitable relief: "The final remedy [Appellant] seeks in the Second Suit is a ruling that the transfers were fraudulent, a ruling that the transfers are required to be unwound, and that the assets should be held by [Respondent] individually." App. Brief, p. 21. Notably, Appellant ignores that it has also asserted a civil conspiracy claim seeking money damages. And, of course, throughout the remainder of its brief, Appellant repeatedly argues that it risks losing the opportunity to collect on a money judgment in the absence of an injunction. In other words, it is seeking the injunction in order to aid it in collecting a money judgment that it anticipates obtaining at some point in the future.

Appellant cites the following excerpt from U.S. ex rel. Rahman v. Oncology Assocs., 198 F.3d 489, 496 (4th Cir. 1999) in support of its argument that an injunction should be issued by the court pursuant to its equitable powers:

First, where a plaintiff creditor has no lien or equitable interest in the assets of a defendant debtor, the creditor may not interfere with the debtor's use of his property before obtaining judgment. A debt claim leads only to a money judgment and does not in its own right constitute an interest in specific property. Accordingly, a debt claim does not, before reduction to judgment, authorize prejudgment execution against the debtor's assets.

On the other hand, when the plaintiff creditor asserts a cognizable claim to specific assets of the defendant or seeks a remedy involving those assets, a court may in the interim invoke equity to preserve the *status quo* pending judgment where the legal remedy might prove inadequate and the preliminary relief furthers the court's ability to grant the final relief requested.

Appellant contends that the present matter, and the relief it seeks, falls in that latter category.

However, Appellant's argument is misplaced in that the injunctive relief it seeks is freezing all of Respondent's assets and stripping his ability to conduct business. The Rahman decision, and the precedent on which it relies, does not permit such relief. Assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant seeks only equitable relief in this action, which is not the case, Rahman requires there to be some "nexus between the assets sought to be frozen...and the ultimate relief requested in the lawsuit..." Id. at 496-497. In other words, Rahman does not permit a blanket freeze on assets. If it were applicable in the first place, it would allow, at most, the specific properties at issue (i.e., the properties alleged to have been fraudulently transferred) to be subject to an injunction. That is not what was requested by Appellant.

This argument was not preserved for review, it is misplaced, and its applicability to the present matter is doubtful. See Scratch Golf, 361 S.C. at 121, 603 S.E.2d at 907 (declining to apply U.S. Supreme Court decision concerning a federal court's equitable powers because it was not dispositive of whether a state court judge may restrain a defendant's assets prior to the attachment of a money judgment and there was no federal question at issue that would cause it to be binding).

CONCLUSION

The lower court correctly determined that Appellant is not entitled to a preliminary injunction. Appellant failed to show irreparable harm or the lack of an adequate remedy at law. As an additional sustaining ground, it is also unable to show a likelihood of success on the merits. Moreover, an injunction is not necessary to preserve the status quo. Rather, the injunction sought by Appellant would drastically alter the status quo and impose a very real and substantial hardship on Respondent. The lower court's Order should be affirmed.